RECEIVED

Jul 22 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William C. McMaster, Circuit Court Judge

Common Pleas Case No. 2025-CP-23-00389

Appellate Case No. 2025-001151

Southern Painting and Maintenance Specialists,
LLC.,

Appellant,

v.

Greenville County,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL OPENING BRIEF

Respectfully submitted this 22nd day of July 2025.

CAMPBELL TEAGUE LLC

s/John-Paul Baum

John-Paul Baum (SC Bar #104938)

Emily O'Brian (SC Bar #101824)

110 Edgeworth St.

Greenville, SC 29607

PH: (864) 326-4186

johnpaul@campbellteague.com

emily@campbellteague.com

Attorneys for Appellant

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1) Whether, under *de novo* review, the plain language of South Carolina Code Sections 40-11-30 and 40-11-410(4)(c) requires a general contractor's license to install flooring, thereby prohibiting Greenville County from awarding the contract to an unlicensed contractor and rendering the award void as a matter of law.
- 2) Whether, pursuant to *de novo* review, a government contract awarded to a company not registered to do business in South Carolina must be voided.
- 3) Whether the trial court abused its discretion when it applied the wrong standard, ignored the applicable statutory law, and instead considered whether Greenville County acted in good faith to determine the merits of a declaratory judgment action.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal stems from the Circuit Court’s denial of relief to stop an unlicensed contractor from performing work on a county project.

Pursuant to the Greenville County Procurement Code, on September 20, 2024, Greenville County issued a sealed bid solicitation seeking bids to install new flooring in the Greenville County Animal Care shelter. (9/20/24 Request for Proposals #25029.) The request for proposals (“RFP”) asked for contractors “to provide and install flooring” for the project titled, “Animal Care Facilities – Shelter Flooring Installation, RFP # 25029” (hereinafter, the “Project”). (*Id.*) The RFP states, “The current flooring shows visible wear, including scratches, cracks, and areas where moisture has seeped in, leading to safety and health concerns for both animals and staff.” (*Id.*) Thus, the Project included the following specifications:

- Replacing existing flooring with new flooring. (1.1)
- Inspecting all surfaces where new flooring will be installed. (3.2)
- Identifying any subfloor preparation required and “preparing the site for installation,” in order “to minimize delays during installation.” (3.2)
- Ensuring “all necessary safety measures are in place for their workers and shelter staff during the installation process.” (3.4)
- Providing warranty for both materials and installation. (3.6)
- Conducting the installation in two phases to provide new flooring to both buildings. (3.7)

(*Id.*)

The Project required bidders to comply with state and federal laws, have all necessary licenses, and be authorized to do business in South Carolina. (*Id.* at 12.24.) Southern Painting and

Maintenance Specialists, LLC (“Southern Painting”), Tailor Made Services, Inc. (“TMS”), and HRP Innovation LLC (“HRP”) bid on the project. TMS does not hold a general contractor’s license. (4/10/25 Def. Responses to Reqs. to Admit.) Further, at the time of the bid, TMS was not registered to do business in South Carolina. (1/24/25 Maffett Aff.¶ 12, Ex. B.)

TMS was awarded the Project by Greenville County. (4/4/25 Def. Answer ¶ 12.) On December 3, 2024, Southern Painting protested the bid under the Greenville County Procurement Code. (1/24/25 Maffett Aff.¶ 13, Ex. C.) Specifically, Southern Painting asserted (1) TMS did not have a general contractor’s license as required for the Project, (2) Southern Painting did not have all information required to compare the bids, and that (3) Southern Painting’s protest rights be reserved pending receipt of all information regarding the bid. (*Id.*) On December 11, 2024, Greenville County issued a response, denying Southern Painting’s protest. (*Id.*) On December 16, 2024 Southern Painting appealed the protest to the Greenville County Administrator (*Id.*) On January 13, 2025, the Greenville County Administrator denied Southern Painting’s request. (*Id.*)

On January 23, 2025, Southern Painting filed a Declaratory Judgment action and request for Injunctive Relief in Circuit Court, asserting that the bid award was void under South Carolina law since TMS did not have the required licensure and was not registered to do business in South Carolina. (1/23/25 *See* Compl.) On January 24, 2025, Southern Painting filed its Motion for Declaratory Judgment and Injunction. (1/24/25 Mot. for Decl. J. and Mot. for Inj.) On March 3, 2025, Greenville County filed its Answer. (4/4/25 Def. Answer.) On April 14, 2025, the Circuit Court held a hearing and took the matter under advisement. On April 21, 2025, the Circuit Court issued an Order. (4/21/25 Form 4 Order.) On May 8, the Circuit Court issued a formal Order, holding that Greenville County’s denial of Southern Painting’s protest was not “arbitrary, unreasonable, in obvious abuse of discretion, or an excess of lawfully delegated power.” (5/8/25

Order p. 9). Southern Painting filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgment on May 16, 2025, asserting among other arguments that the Circuit Court needed to determine whether an unlicensed contractor was permitted to install the animal shelter flooring. (5/16/25 Mot. to Alter or Amend J.) On June 3, 2025, the Circuit Court issued an order denying Southern Painting's Motion to Alter or Amend. (6/3/25 Order.) On June 5, 2025, Southern Painting filed its Notice of Appeal and served Greenville County on the same day. (6/5/25 Notice of Appeal.)

ARGUMENT

This case contemplates whether a government entity can award a public project to a company that (1) lacks the required contractor's license and (2) is not registered to do business in South Carolina. Greenville County attempts to shift attention from these statutory violations by pointing to the purported good faith of its employees or their reliance on informal communications from LLR. But Greenville County's intentions or efforts cannot be the guidepost for whether the law was followed. Such excuses cannot exempt our *government* from complying with state law. We respectfully ask this Court to uphold the rule of law and confirm that public entities in South Carolina must comply with state licensing statutes when awarding construction work.

A. Because TMS did not have the necessary licensure to perform the work required by the Project, Greenville County cannot award TMS the bid pursuant to South Carolina law and the resulting contract must be rendered void by this Court.

1. Issues of statutory interpretation are reviewed *de novo*.

Questions of statutory interpretation are questions of law which are subject to *de novo* review and which the Court is free to decide without any deference to the court below. *Hueble v. S.C. Dep't of Nat. Res.*, 416 S.C. 220, 228, 785 S.E.2d 461, 465 (2016). Under the *de novo* standard, the appellate court independently reviews the record and makes its own factual findings based on

the preponderance of the evidence. *Wilson v. Gandis*, 430 S.C. 282, 306, 844 S.E.2d 631, 644 (2020).

“The characterization of a declaratory judgment suit depends on the nature of the underlying controversy.” *Barnacle Broad., Inc. v. Baker Broad., Inc.*, 343 S.C. 140, 146, 538 S.E.2d 672, 675 (Ct. App. 2000). Here, Southern Painting requested the lower court to interpret S.C. Code Sections 40-11-30 and 410 to confirm that flooring installation requires a general contractor’s license in South Carolina. (Pl. Compl. ¶. 27.) Based on the statutory interpretation, Southern Painting asked that the Court declare the contract between Greenville County and TMS void under South Carolina law, since TMS was unlicensed and not authorized to do business in South Carolina. As this centers on statutory interpretation, the standard of review is *de novo*. *Books-A-Million, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 437 S.C. 640, 642, 880 S.E.2d 476, 477 (2022) (“We review questions of statutory interpretation *de novo*.”).

2. Review of the plain language of the statute makes clear that the Project was for the installation of floors under S.C. Code 40-11-410(4)(c) and thus required a general contractors license under S.C. Code 40-11-30.

Under the plain language of the statutes, flooring installation work in South Carolina—like the Project—must be performed by a licensed general contractor. Title 40, Chapter 11 of the South Carolina Code governs contractors and their license requirements. Section 410 sets forth the license classifications and subclassifications, listing specifically the type of work each classification allows a contractor to perform. Unless explicitly exempt from licensure in 40-11-360, a license is required to perform the listed work.

S.C. Code § 40-11-410(4)(c) describes the work a “General Contractor-Nonstructural Renovation” is permitted to perform. The statute states, “installing, remodeling, renovations, and finishes of...flooring (excluding carpeting)” falls under this Nonstructural Renovation

subclassification. *Id.* This licensure also covers sandblasting, a technique using powerful equipment often used to prepare concrete subfloors. *Id.*

a) The Project was undoubtedly for the installation of floors.

There is no doubt that the Project involved the installation of flooring. The Project was titled “Animal Care Services – Shelter **Flooring Installation.**” (9/20/24 Request for Proposals #25029) (emphasis added). The scope of work, as outlined in Greenville County’s proposal, reiterates that the Project was for flooring installation:

3. Scope of Work

3.1. General Information

The County of Greenville is seeking sealed proposals from General Contractors **to provide and install flooring** at the Animal Care Services facility located at 328 Furman Hall Road, Greenville, SC 29609.

The Animal Care facility consists of two buildings; Building 1 for Animal Adoptions, and Building 2 for Animal Receiving. To ensure minimal disruption, the project will be executed in two phases with building 1 as the first phase and building 2 being the second phase.

(9/20/24 Request for Proposals #25029 Pgs. 6-8) (emphasis added).

The RFP describes the current flooring make-up and issues with the various materials currently in the building. (9/20/24 Request for Proposals #25029 Pg. 3 ¶1.1.) The RFP clearly seeks removal of the old flooring, preparation of the site, and installation of new flooring functional for the animal shelter. (9/20/24 Request for Proposals #25029 Pg. 3 ¶1.1.)

The RFP outlines key milestones, including site assessment, preparation, phased installation, and final inspection. (9/20/24 Request for Proposals #25029 Pgs. 6-8.) Notably, the contractor must provide a comprehensive warranty covering both materials and workmanship of the installation. (9/20/24 Request for Proposals #25029 Pg. 7 ¶3.5.) This warranty specifically addresses installation-related issues such as lifting, cracking, and moisture penetration, further

confirming that the Project involved flooring installation and finishing. The RFP also states that “[t]he contractor must ensure that the *flooring installation* process complies with all relevant health and safety regulations.” (9/20/24 Request for Proposals #25029 Pg. 7 ¶3.4.) (emphasis added). In fact, the term “install,” including its variations such as “installing” and “installation,” appears approximately 29 times in the Project bid, not including the Project title of “Shelter Flooring Installation” which appears prominently at the top of each page. The word “flooring,” including its variations such as “floor,” appears approximately 34 times in the Project bid, again not including the Project title¹. These repeated references underscore that the purpose of the Project was the installation of flooring, which is clearly covered by the licensing requirement in S.C. Code § 40-11-410(4)(c).

More specifically, the proposed flooring to be used for the Project were Sherwin Williams five-layer systems—Fastop Deco Flake SL45 and Resuflor Mechanical Room Systems. (11/5/24 Tailor Made Services, Inc. Bid; 1/24/25 Maffett Aff. Ex. D.) The full installation process is described in the Sherwin Williams materials submitted with TMS’s bid. (11/5/24 Tailor Made Services, Inc. Bid.) The installation of cove base and resinous flooring systems involves the blasting and sanding of concrete, repairing concrete to prepare the surface, apply a primer base, and installing slurry, grout, and seal coats. (11/5/24 Tailor Made Services, Inc. Bid.) Kevin Parris, a representative of Sherwin Williams’ High Performance Flooring, gave additional details about the flooring system and the process for site preparation and installation. He stated that the system was to be installed over sound, mechanically prepared concrete. (1/24/25 Maffett Aff. Ex. D.) Any existing coatings or flooring must be removed to achieve the required concrete surface profile. (*Id.*) Mr. Parris explained that the system could be installed over a fully adhered ceramic tile,

¹ If the Project title was included, flooring and install would appear over 50 times.

provided the tile is sound, mechanically profiled, and properly primed. (*Id.*) However, if the tile integrity was in question, full removal was recommended. (*Id.*) Additionally, Mr. Maffett, explained that the preparation work included shot blasting, a form of mechanical surface preparation using equipment that weighs several hundred pounds and typically requires two employees to operate. (1/24/25 Maffett Aff. ¶15.) While distinct from sandblasting, shot blasting similarly involves industrial machinery requiring skill to use safely. Due to the complexity of these multi-step systems, Mr. Parris confirmed that installation should be performed by an experienced flooring contractor. (1/24/25 Maffett Aff. Ex. D.)

Because the Project requires flooring installation and shot blasting for preparation of the subfloor, a license is required under S.C. Code § 40-11-410(4)(c). Accordingly, S.C. Code § 40-11-30 requires any individual or entity performing this work, where the total cost exceeds \$10,000, to hold a valid general contractor's license. There is no assertion that the Project was under \$10,000. (4/12/25 Hearing Transcript Pgs. 10-11). Further, S.C. Code §§ 40-11-30 and 40-11-370 prohibit individuals or entities from performing or holding themselves out as licensed contractors to perform general or mechanical construction above the statutory threshold without a valid license. To reinforce this mandate, the legislature made it a punishable offense to either authorize or perform construction without a valid license. S.C. Code § 40-11-200(b). Here, there is no doubt that TMS did not hold a South Carolina general contractor's license. (4/10/25 Def. Responses to Reqs. to Admit). Thus, by the plain language of the statute on *de novo* review, this Court must find that a license was required to execute the flooring installation for the Project and TMS was not qualified.

b) Because the law prohibits an unlicensed contractor from installing floors, this Court must void the contract between Greenville County and TMS.

Through the plain language of Title 40, Chapter 11, the South Carolina legislature prohibits unlicensed contractors from installing floors. To enforce this policy, South Carolina declares contracts void when a contractor performs work without the proper license. This Court should do the same in this case.

For example, in *W & N Constr. Co. v. Williams*, 322 S.C. 448, 472 S.E.2d 622 (1996), the Supreme Court voided a contract due to the contractor's lack of license. The Court stated, "[t]he rationale is that such licensing statutes protect the public and to permit unlicensed contractors to circumvent licensing requirements by payment of a small fine would defeat the legislative intent." *Id.* at 450, 623.

An analogous case dealing with public contracts is *William C. Logan & Assocs. v. Leatherman*, where the Court held that the failure to list a subcontractor in accordance with the procurement code, whether done negligently or intentionally, rendered a bid nonresponsive. 290 S.C. 400, 351 S.E.2d 146 (1986). That failure, though technical, invalidated the bid. *Id.* Here, the defect is more fundamental: the bidder lacked a legal prerequisite to perform the work. (4/10/25 Def. Responses to Reqs. to Admit).

TMS's failure to submit proof of a general contractor's license, an explicit requirement of the bid solicitation, constitutes a fundamental and disqualifying defect. Under *William C. Logan & Assocs.*, such noncompliance is not a trivial or technical oversight; it renders the bid nonresponsive as a matter of law. The defect was clear at the time the bid was submitted and renders the resulting contract legally invalid. To hold otherwise would effectively reduce mandatory licensing requirements to mere procedural suggestions, undermining both the integrity

of the public procurement process and the statutory framework designed to protect it. (Greenville County’s Procurement Code at § 7-192).

South Carolina Courts have consistently upheld licensing law. Allowing the TMS contract to stand would contradict a well-established line of South Carolina precedent confirming that unlicensed contractors cannot lawfully perform regulated construction work or benefit from contracts without a valid license. These cases include:

1. *Duckworth v. Cameron*, 270 S.C. 647, 649, 244 S.E.2d 217, 218 (1978) (“Any builder who violates the chapter by entering into a contract for home construction without obtaining the required license simply cannot enforce the contract.”);
2. *Wagner v. Graham*, 296 S.C. 1, 370 S.E.2d 95 (Ct. App. 1988) (holding that contractor was precluded from bringing foreclosure action based on contractor’s failure to be licensed by state Residential Homebuilders Commission);
3. *Columbia Pools, Inc. v. Moon*, 284 S.C. 145, 146, 325 S.E.2d 540, 540 (1985) (“Columbia Pools was not licensed in South Carolina as a general contractor or residential home builder when the contract was executed. The trial court dismissed the action holding an unlicensed home builder's enforcement suit was barred under S.C. Code § 40–59–130 and *Duckworth v. Cameron*, 270 S.C. 647, 244 S.E.2d 217 (1978). We affirm.”);
4. *Lenz v. Walsh*, 362 S.C. 603, 607, 608 S.E.2d 471, 473 (Ct. App. 2005) (“South Carolina courts have held that, pursuant to the statute, a builder who is not licensed at the time he enters into a contract for residential construction may not bring an action to enforce the provisions of the contract.”);
5. *Roberta, Inc. v. Tr.*, 274 S.C. 53, 55, 260 S.E.2d 818, 819 (1979) (“Since appellant was an unlicensed builder, it cannot “bring an action” to enforce the provisions of the building contract, including one to recover, as here, for amounts paid by it to third parties in the performance of the contract. This is the scope of the plain language of the statute. We have no authority to change it.”).

Although the preceding cases involve private enforcement, they are grounded in the same statutory mandate—licensure is a legal condition to contract, not a technicality that can be waived or

ignored. This Court is bound by this precedent to enforce the licensing requirements of Title 40, Chapter 11.

3. The plain language of the governing statute is unambiguous, so no further analysis is required.

“Appellate courts must follow a statute’s plain and unambiguous language, and when the language is clear, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning.” *S.C. Dep’t of Soc. Servs. v. Boulware*, 422 S.C. 1, 7–8, 809 S.E.2d 223, 226 (2018). What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. *Id.* When a statute is plain and unambiguous, courts may not look outside its text to override its clear mandate. *Paschal v. State Election Comm’n*, 317 S.C. 434, 436, 454 S.E.2d 890, 892 (1995) (“If a statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for employing rules of statutory interpretation and the court has no right to look for or impose another meaning.”)

Under S.C. Code § 40-11-410(c), flooring installation qualifies as general contracting, as it includes nonstructural renovations like floor installation and finishing. Flooring installers must be licensed for projects over \$10,000. S.C. Code § 40-11-30. The work in question was over \$10,000. (4/12/25 Hearing Transcript Pgs. 10-11). TMS did not have a license. (4/10/25 Def. Responses to Reqs. to Admit). The analysis is complete, and no further interpretation is needed.

a) The lower court erred by looking outside the statute for guidance, contrary to South Carolina law.

Rather than following the established rules of statutory interpretation, the lower court made a roundabout decision asserting reliance on an agency opinion. This is in error.

First, the lower court did not analyze the statute or its application, as requested by the Declaratory Judgment action. (Pl. Compl ¶ 28; *See also* S.C. Code § 15-53-30.) Instead, the lower court asserted that Appellant had to “show that the County’s award to TMS and the County’s denial

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