RECEIVED

Dec 19 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
William C. McMaster, Circuit Court Judge

Trial Court Case No. 2025-CP-23-00389

Appellate Case No. 2025-001151

Southern Painting and Maintenance Specialists, LLCAppellant,

v.

Greenville County,Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

HAYNSWORTH SINKLER BOYD, P.A.

Boyd B. Nicholson, Jr.
S.C. Bar No. 65387
One North Main St., 2nd Floor (29601)
P.O. Box 2048
Greenville, SC 29602
Telephone: (864) 240-3200
Email: nnicholson@hsblawfirm.com

Attorneys for Respondent Greenville
County

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Properly Denied Southern Painting’s Motion for a Preliminary Injunction.

For a preliminary injunction to be granted, the plaintiff must establish that (1) it would suffer irreparable harm if the injunction is not granted; (2) the party seeking injunction will likely succeed in the litigation; and (3) there is an inadequate remedy at law.” *Strategic Resources Co. v. BCS Life Ins. Co.*, 367 S.C. 540, 544, 627 S.E.2d 687, 689 (2006); *Scratch Golf Co. v. Dunes West Residential Golf Properties, Inc.*, 361 S.C. 117, 121, 603 S.E.2d 905, 908 (2004). The party seeking a temporary injunction has the burden of demonstrating facts and circumstances satisfying each of these elements. *Strategic Res. Co.*, 367 S.C. at 544, 627 S.E.2d at 689. If there is a failure by the movant to establish even one of these three elements, a request for a temporary injunction must be denied. *Shapemasters Golf Course Bldrs., Inc. v. Shapemasters, Inc.*, 360 S.C. 473, 477-478, 602 S.E.2d 83, 85-86 (2004) (affirming trial court’s denial of restraining order because moving party did not show irreparable harm). The granting of a temporary injunction is a drastic remedy and ought to be applied with caution. *Strategic Resources Co.*, 367 S.C. at 544, 627 S.E.2d at 689 (citing *Forest Land Co. v. Black*, 216 S.C. 255, 57 S.E.2d 420 (1950)). See also *Scratch*

Golf Co. v. Dunes W. Residential Golf Props., 361 S.C. at 121, 603 S.E.2d at 907 (2004). (“An injunction is a drastic remedy issued by the court in its discretion to prevent irreparable harm suffered by the plaintiff.”).

A. The Trial Court Properly Found that Southern Painting Failed to Demonstrate a Likelihood of Success on the Merits.

This case presents an appeal from the County’s denial of Southern Painting’s protest of the County’s determination finding TMS to be a responsible vendor.¹ In reviewing procurement decisions of this nature, the standard for Southern Painting to meet is a high one, as it must show that the County’s determination was “clearly erroneous, arbitrary, capricious, or contrary to law.” *IN RE: Appeal by CBN Secure Technologies, Inc.*, Case No. 2024-4, 2024 WL 5325242 (S.C. Proc. Rev. Panel 2024); *In re: Protest of Brantley Construction Co., Inc.*, Case No. 1993-3, 1999 WL 33590765 (S.C. Proc. Rev. Panel 1999) (“[t]he protesting bidder must prove the determination of responsibility is clearly erroneous, arbitrary, capricious, or contrary to law.”). *See also Sloan v. Greenville Cnty.*, 356 S.C. 531, 555-56, 590 S.E.2d 338, 351 (Ct. App. 2003) (the standard for judging the sufficiency of written determinations required by Greenville County’s Design-Build Ordinance was whether such determinations were “arbitrary, unreasonable, in obvious abuse of discretion, or an excess of lawfully delegated power.”). Southern Painting did not meet this high standard.

¹ Under the County’s competitive sealed proposals procurement process, the County may only award a contract to a bidder that is responsive and responsible. *See* Greenville County Procurement Ordinance (“GCPO”) § 7-307 (8) - (10). The GCPO defines a responsible bidder as a “person who has the capability in all respects to perform fully the contract requirements, and the tenacity, perseverance, experience, integrity, reliability, capacity, facilities, equipment, and credit which will assure good faith performance.” GCPO § 7-198(46), and it defines a responsive bidder as a “person who has submitted a bid which conforms in all material respects to the requirements set forth” in the solicitation documents. GCPO § 7-198(47).

1. Southern Painting Failed to Demonstrate that the County Abused its Discretion in Determining that TMS Was a Responsible Vendor.

As the affidavit of Robert Brewer, the County's Director of Procurement, demonstrates, the County's determination concerning the responsibility of TMS was the opposite of "clearly erroneous, arbitrary, capricious, or contrary to law." To the contrary, Mr. Brewer investigated on two separate occasions the issue of whether TMS was required to hold a South Carolina contractor's license. Mr. Brewer carried out the first investigation upon receipt of TMS's proposal. TMS did not submit a license with its proposal, and so as a part of determining whether TMS was responsible, Mr. Brewer's office contacted the South Contractor's Licensing Board, a division of the South Carolina Department of Labor Licensing & Regulation and the authority having jurisdiction over the licensing of contractors. *See* Brewer Affidavit at ¶ 5 and Exhibit C to Brewer Affidavit (R. at 0222, 0292). Based on the response of the Contractor's Licensing Board, Mr. Brewer deemed TMS responsible. Brewer affidavit at ¶ 5 (R. at 0222).

After Southern Painting protested the award of the RFP project to TMS, Mr. Brewer made another inquiry concerning the need for a license to perform the work described in the RFP. Mr. Brewer again contacted the Contractor's Licensing Board, asking the Board to "clarify if a [contractor's] license ... is needed." Brewer Affidavit at ¶ 8 and Exhibit C to Brewer Affidavit, (R. at 0223, 0294). The Program Coordinator of the South Carolina Contractor's Licensing Board, replied: "Sealants do not require a license from our board as stated in my 12/04/2024 email below." (R. at 0293).

In summary, on two separate occasions the County contacted the authority having jurisdiction about the need for a contractor's license for this project. Both times that agency informed the County that a license was not required. Case law makes clear that Mr. Brewer

acted reasonably in following the conclusions and reasoning of the SCLLR, as the “construction of a statute by the agency charged with its administration will be accorded the most respectful consideration and will not be overruled absent compelling reasons.” *Ruocco v. South Carolina State Bd. of Registration for Professional Engineers and Land Surveyors*, 314 S.C. 111, 115, 441 S.E.2d 829, 831 (Ct. App. 1994) (citing *Dunton v. South Carolina Bd. of Examiners in Optometry*, 291 S.C. 221, 353 S.E.2d 132 (1987)).²

In the case of *In re: Protest of Monroe Construction Co., LLC*, Case No. 2011-3, 2011 WL 7068068 (S.C. Proc. Rev. Panel 2011), the protesting contractor argued that the winning contractor had improperly listed an unlicensed subcontractor in its bid. The representative of the state agency (the University of South Carolina) who had prepared the bid documents testified “that she checked the licenses of [the plumber] prior to award and determined that [the plumber] possessed a valid plumbing license, which is all that was required by the bid form.” The Procurement Review Panel held that “this inquiry satisfied the requirements of the Procurement Code with regard to responsibility” and therefore, the protesting contractor “failed to show that USC's determination of responsibility ... ‘clearly erroneous, arbitrary, capricious, or contrary to law.’” *Id.* In the present case, Mr.

² Southern Painting cites *Colonial Pipeline Company v. South Carolina Department of Revenue*, 443 S.C. 448, 905 S.E.2d 129 (Ct. App. 2024) and notes that the court of appeals stated in that case stated that it was “cognizant” of *Loper Bright Enters. V. Raimondo*, 603 U.S. 369 (2024). Nowhere does the court in the *Colonial Pipeline Company* opinion, however, overrule or even question *Ruocco v. South Carolina State Bd. of Registration for Professional Engineers and Land Surveyors*, 314 S.C. 111, 115, 441 S.E.2d 829, 831 (Ct. App. 1994) or *Dunton v. South Carolina Bd. of Examiners in Optometry*, 291 S.C. 221, 353 S.E.2d 132 (1987), both cited in the Court’s May 8 Order (Order at 8, R. at 0014). Moreover, as the United States Supreme Court noted in *Loper*, the *Chevron* standard “demand[ed] that courts mechanically afford **binding deference** to agency interpretations, including those that have been inconsistent over time ... [and] even when a pre-existing judicial precedent holds that an ambiguous statute means something else,” 603 U.S. at 398 (emphasis added). This former federal standard is a far cry from the “the most respectful consideration” standard described in *Ruocco*. 314 S.C. at 115, 441 S.E.2d at 831. The *Colonial Pipeline Company* opinion, therefore, does nothing for Southern Painting’s case.

Brewer did much more than the University of South Carolina representative in *In re: Protest of Monroe*. Mr. Brewer made inquiries – not once but twice – with the Contractor’s Licensing Board – the authority having jurisdiction over contractor licensing in South Carolina -- concerning the licensing issue. Both times SCLLR gave the same answer: a license was not required.

Based on this record, it is clear that the County acted reasonably. But this is not the standard. Instead, Southern Painting must show that the County’s award to TMS and the County’s denial of Southern Painting’s protest was clearly erroneous, arbitrary, capricious, or contrary to law. Southern Painting comes nowhere close to meeting this high standard, and an opinion that Southern Painting tried to elicit from a lawyer with the South Carolina Labor, Licensing and Regulation illustrates this point. Southern Painting presented to the Court an e-mail from Carolyn Sutherland, Advice Counsel for the South Carolina Labor, Licensing and Regulation, and in its papers quoted Ms. Sutherland as stating:

The project in question appears to refer to the installation of a flooring system that utilizes a “slurry” with a waterproofing technology rather than a typical “seal coating”. As pointed out in the email, the license would be required for installation of or flooring if the work is over \$10,000.

(Exhibit C to Southern Painting’s Memorandum in Support of Motion for Declaratory Judgment, R. at 0477 – 0478). Unlike the County’s e-mail to Ms. Jackson of the Contractor’s Licensing Board, where the County provided the specifications provided by TMS for the Project and also a link to a Project description, the record does not show what Southern Painting provided to Ms. Sutherland by way of a description of the Project. More telling, however, is the part of Ms. Sutherland’s e-mail that Southern Painting did not

quote: “That said, waterproofing and sealcoating are pretty similar in nature and I am not qualified to interpret the distinction here.” *Id.*

In summary, on two separate occasions the County contacted the Contractor’s Licensing Board about the need for a contractor’s license for this Project. Both times, the Licensing Board, the authority having jurisdiction over contracting licensing matters in this state, informed the County that a license was not required. The evidence that Southern Painting offered to rebut these two communications was a communication from Advice Counsel of South Carolina Labor, Licensing and Regulation who stated that she was not qualified to opine on the issue. The granting of a temporary injunction is a drastic remedy and ought to be applied with caution. *Strategic Resources Co.*, 367 S.C. at 544, 627 S.E.2d at 689. Based on this record, the Trial Court did not err in denying Southern Painting’s motion for a preliminary injunction.

2. Southern Painting Waived Any Right to Protest Based upon TMS’ Certification to Perform Business in Southern Carolina, but in any event TMS was Properly Registered to Perform Business in Southern Carolina.

Although it did not protest this issue, *see* Southern Painting’s Protest (Exhibit B to Brewer Affidavit, R. at 0289-0290), Southern Painting nevertheless alleged in its complaint that it was entitled to relief because TMS was not certified to do business in South Carolina. (Complaint at ¶¶ 21 and 27, R. at 0024-0025). The Trial Court found Southern Painting waived this argument: “As an initial matter, Southern Painting did not raise this issue in its protest, ... and therefore, this issue is waived.” (May 8 Order at 9, R. at 0015). First, Southern Painting has not appealed or taken any exception to the Trial Court’s ruling on waiver in its brief, and therefore, this issue is waived. *Carolina Attractions, Inc. v. Courtney*, 287 S.C. 140, 143, 337 S.E.2d 244, 246 (Ct. App. 1985) (“Failure to raise an

issue by exception constitutes a waiver and a provision in an order neither excepted to nor briefed is not properly before the Court on appeal.”) (citing *Amick v. Hagler*, 286 S.C. 481, 334 S.E.2d 525 (Ct.App.1985)).

Second, the Trial Court’s finding of a waiver was appropriate. It is axiomatic that the failure to raise an issue initially in a protest acts as a waiver. *See Hitachi Data Systems Corp. v. Leatherman*, 309 S.C. 174, 179, 420 S.E.2d 843, 846 (1992) (stating that in appeals to the South Carolina Procurement Review Panel, “the avenue of written protest remains the sole procedure by which a matter is brought before the Panel for consideration.”).

Third, the Trial Court properly ruled that nothing in S.C. Code Ann. § 33-15-101, *et. seq.* (the “Certification Statute”) prevented TMS from carrying out its work on the project. Mr. Brewer established in his affidavit that TMS was registered to do business in South Carolina before it signed its contract with the County and before it began work on the Project. (Brewer Affidavit at ¶ 9 and Exhibit D to Brewer Affidavit, R. at 0223, 0321). Unlike the South Carolina Contractor’s Licensing Statute, which provides that general contractors must be licensed before even submitting a bid, *see* S.C. Code Ann. § 40-11-200(B), nothing in the Certification Statute contains this sort of prohibition. S.C. Code Ann. § 33-15-101(a) states only that foreign corporations must be registered before it “transact[s] business.” Mr. Brewer’s affidavit plainly shows that TMS was registered before it signed a contract with the County. Moreover, the Certification Statute provides that “soliciting or obtaining orders” does not constitute the transacting of business. S.C. Code Ann. § 33-15-101(b)(6). Even if a foreign corporation does not become registered, which was not the case with TMS, the recourse against that corporation is a “civil penalty of ten dollars for each day but not to exceed a total of one thousand dollars for each year it

transacts business in this State without a certificate”, the inability to bring a lawsuit in this state “until it obtains a certificate of authority,” and other minor inconveniences. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 33-15-102.

B. The Trial Court’s Order Denying Southern Painting’s Motion for Preliminary Injunction Should Be Affirmed Because The Project Is Complete.

The project at issue in this case is over. Its expected duration was roughly two months, (Exhibit A to Brewer Affidavit, R. at 0287), and on April 9, 2025 (over five months ago), the project was over half-way complete. (Brewer Affidavit at ¶ 10, R. at 0223). Moreover, the anticipated completion date for the project was on or before April 28, 2025. *Id.* As such, the request for injunctive relief is moot and should be denied. *See Shah v. Richland Memorial Hosp.*, 350 S.C. 139, 564 S.E.2d 681 (2002).

Our appellate courts “will not pass on moot and academic questions or make an adjudication where there remains no actual controversy.” *Shah*, 350 S.C. at 150, 564 S.E.2d at 687 (quoting *Mathis v. South Carolina State Highway Dep’t*, 260 S.C. 344, 346, 195 S.E.2d 713, 714 (1973)). “A case becomes moot when judgment, if rendered, will have no practical legal effect upon [an] existing controversy. This is true when some event occurs making it impossible for [a] reviewing [c]ourt to grant effectual relief.” *Shah*, 350 S.C. at 150, 564 S.E.2d at 687 (quoting *Mathis* at 346, 195 S.E.2d at 715). In *Shah*, the circuit court refused to consider a request to permanently enjoin a contract because the contract had expired. *Shah*, 350 S.C. at 150, 564 S.E.2d at 687 (“[n]othing remains to be enjoined. No contract remains to be construed. The disputed Radiology Contract has expired.”). The Court of Appeals agreed. *Id.* at 152, 564 S.E.2d at 688 (“we find that the request for a permanent injunction is no longer viable as the disputed contract has now expired, and thus

there is nothing for the court to enjoin.”). Similarly, in this case there is nothing left to enjoin.

II. The Trial Court Properly Denied Southern Painting’s Motion for Declaratory Judgment, But this Ruling is Not Appealable.

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